RECEIVED

10-29-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 1

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent, Appeal No. 2015-AP-1784-CR

v. Circuit Court Case No.

2014-CT-1754

MARGUERITE ALPERS,

Defendant-Appellant.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT MARGUERITE ALPERS' BRIEF AND APPENDIX

On Appeal from an Order Entered in Milwaukee County By the Honorable John Siefert

> ROBERT J. DVORAK State Bar No. 1017212 PATRICK T. O'NEILL State Bar No. 1079079

HALLING & CAYO, S.C. 320 E. Buffalo St., Suite 700 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 271-3400

Attorneys for Marguerite Alpers

Statement of Issues Presented for Review

Issue 1: Did the circuit court abuse its discretion when it required an ignition interlock device to be installed and maintained in Marguerite Alpers' "husband's car" as a condition of Marguerite's probation?

Answered by the circuit court: No (implied).

Issue 2: Did the circuit court violate Byron Alpers' constitutional due process rights when, without warning, as a condition of his wife Marguerite's probation, it required an ignition interlock device to be installed and maintained in his car?

Answered by the circuit court: No (implied).

Statement on Oral Argument

The issues in this case can be adequately presented in the briefs. Oral argument is not necessary.

Statement on Publication

Pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes Sections 809.23(1)(b)4. and 752.31(2)(f), publication is not warranted because this case is to be decided by a single Court of Appeals judge.

Statement of the Case

Marguerite Alpers appeals the condition of her probation requiring the installation of an ignition interlock device ("IID") in "her husband's car" (the "IID Order" or the "Order"). The IID Order was an abuse of the circuit court's discretion, as it was not adequately supported by the record, but instead based on the circuit court's own idiosyncrasies. In addition, its purpose was already achieved through less restrictive conditions of supervision. The Order also violated her husband, Byron Alpers', constitutional due process rights, as he was not a party to his wife's case, received no notice that his liberties might be affected, and due to his serious health conditions, has extreme difficulties operating the IID, and thus his vehicle. For these reasons, the IID Order should be removed.

I. Procedural Posture

On June 10, 2015, Marguerite pled guilty to operating under the influence 3rd offense in Milwaukee County Case No. 2014-CT-1754. R. 15:6; App. 7.¹ As a condition of her probation, the court, the Honorable John

¹ For the convenience of the Court, citations will be provided to both the record and the corresponding appendix page(s), when practical.

Siefert presiding, ordered that an IID be installed in "her husband's car." R. 15:27; App. 28. Neither Marguerite nor her husband, Byron, had received notice that this could be a condition of Marguerite's probation. *See* R. 15.

On July 13, 2015, Marguerite filed a "Motion to Rescind IID Order on Husband's Car" with the circuit court. R. 11. Marguerite's motion explained that Byron's medical conditions make it extremely difficult for him to use the IID, which in turn creates dangerous situations for him and Marguerite, who also suffers from numerous health issues and relies on Byron for transportation. R. 11:1-2; App. 36-37. A letter from Byron's physician was attached and incorporated into Marguerite's motion. R. 11:7; App. 42. On July 15, 2015, the circuit court denied Marguerite's "Motion to Rescind" in a single paragraph decision. R. 12; App. 1.

II. Statement of Facts

Marguerite and Byron Alpers have been married for 40 years. R. 15:16; App. 17. Each has a Master's Degree and careers in executive positions. *Id.* Prior to May 2012, when Marguerite was cited for operating a vehicle while intoxicated, she had no past criminal history. R. 15:13; App. 14. However, in the early evening on July 18, 2014, and again shortly after that in the late afternoon on August 9, 2014, Marguerite was arrested by the

Village of Shorewood Police Department for operating a vehicle while intoxicated. R. 15:9-12; App. 10-13. Both incidents occurred as Marguerite drove from a liquor store on Milwaukee's upper east side to her home in suburban Shorewood, less than a mile away. *Id*.

On June 10, 2015, Marguerite pled guilty to operating under the influence 2nd offense in Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case No. 2014-CT-1745, and to operating under the influence 3rd offense in Case No. 2014-CT-1754, stemming from the two 2014 offenses. R. 15.

During sentencing, Marguerite's counsel informed the circuit court, the Honorable John Siefert presiding, that since the two 2014 arrests, Marguerite had been diagnosed with both a brain tumor and Parkinson's disease. R. 15:17; App. 18. Counsel explained that Marguerite had not driven since her most recent arrest, and that those new health issues further impede Marguerite's ability to drive, notwithstanding the revocation of her operating privileges. R. 15:20; App. 21.

In response, the court cut off and admonished Marguerite's counsel, drawing upon his personal experience as a City of Milwaukee Police Officer:

Counsel, don't ever tell a policeman -- or a retired policeman that because you revoked somebody's license they can't drive.

All you need to do is drive out on the street in my old squad area at midnight, and half the people on the road have license privileges that are revoked; but they're still driving.

Okay. So that -- that all -- that argument does not wash. Now, if you cut somebody's hand off that they can't grab the steering wheel, then they can't drive.

If you put a breath interlock device on their car, it's -- you make it much, much harder for them to drive because they'll have to find somebody that's sober that can learn the pulse codes.

But even then people continue to drive. So it's not -- Not having a paper license never stopped anybody, in my view, from driving who wanted to drive. Okay.

R. 15:20-21; App. 21-22.

Marguerite's counsel further attempted to explain to the court why an additional IID order (or cutting off Marguerite's hand, for that matter), would not fulfill the aims of sentencing: "At age sixty-six, she has rides. She has a pool of drivers, including her husband who is ... no longer working. She doesn't have the need to drive" R. 15:21; App. 22.

The circuit court again interrupted Marguerite's counsel to continue its personal critique of OWI penalties:

When was the last time one of the circuit court judges in Milwaukee County sent somebody to jail for driving after revocation -- drunk driving relationship, drunk driving related?

Did I hear never? I'm not aware of any, you know.

Now, I'm glad that she won't drive because she's law abiding. But, again, the fact that we have criminal penalties for driving after revocation for people whose licenses are revoked for drunk driving, there's -- there's the reality on paper, and then there's the reality in the courtroom, which is nobody goes to jail in this county for that.

There are very very few. So the best way, my view Counsel, is not just talking about paper licenses and paper threats of being arrested for driving after revocation but making it real by getting rid of cars or putting breath interlock devices on them even before they're required.

R. 15:21-22; App. 22-23.

Following the court's ruminations, Marguerite attempted to explain why she was at a low risk to reoffend:

I will not drive. Part of it is because of my Parkinson's, I have dizzy spells. And I haven't driven since those incidents.

My license was -- has been revoked back in the fall.

And my husband fortunately for me has retired, so he's driven me. I have friends that drive me to AA. And I will not drive.

R. 15:24; App. 25.

Following Marguerite's comments, the court sentenced Marguerite to the maximum term of six months jail time in the case ending 1745. R. 15:25; App. 26. The court further revoked her right to have a license for one year, and imposed the statutory 18-month requirement that Marguerite maintain an IID on any vehicle she operates and any vehicle titled or registered in her name. *Id.*; Wis. Stat. § 343.301.

The court withheld sentence in the case ending 1754, placed Marguerite on probation for two years, and ordered numerous conditions of probation, including 45 days jail time. R. 15:26-27; App. 27-28. Pursuant to statute, the court also revoked her driver's license for two years and ordered

"a two year driving -- ignition interlock device requirement [on any vehicle owned or operated by Marguerite] to begin once she applies for and has a driver's license." R. 15:27-29; App. 28-30. In addition, the court imposed the following condition of probation:

Install breath interlock device on husband's car immediately upon release from jail.

. .

And so, Counsel, you know, you say, well, she doesn't have a driver's license, yeah, well, she's got hands; and she's got physical access to his keys; and I want to make sure that she doesn't drive once she's out of the House of Corrections.

I want to make sure that she can't physically make that car start if she's drunk.

So a condition of probation will be that she install a breath interlock device on her husband's car upon her release from the House of Correction and that it remain on for the entire period of probation.

R. 15:26-27; App. 27-28. The court also ordered that corrections officers "physically check to see that the breath interlock device is on the car as soon as she gets out of the House of Correction." R. 15:28; App. 29.

No evidence was presented prior to Marguerite's sentencing regarding whether Marguerite owned a car, whether Byron owned a car, whose name any car they might have owned was titled and registered in, which car(s) Marguerite was driving during the offenses, or whether Marguerite even had access to any car that Byron might have owned. *See* R. 15. Further, Byron

was never given the opportunity to address the court at sentencing, where, for example, he might have explained that his asthma and anxiety could make it difficult for him to use an IID, whether he took precautions to prevent Marguerite from being able to drive his car, how an IID might impact his liberty to move about freely, or what physical and emotional distress he might endure as a result of the IID. *Id*.

Marguerite was taken into custody immediately following the sentencing hearing. R. 15:31; App. 32. Pursuant to the court's order, Byron Alpers installed an IID in his vehicle in order to secure Marguerite's release from the Milwaukee County House of Corrections. R. 11:1-2; App. 36-37.

The IID requires Byron to blow into it and then instantly inhale his breath both in order to start his car and approximately every five to ten minutes while driving.² After Byron installed the IID, he discovered that it aggravates his asthma. R. 11:2, 11:7; App. 37, 42. As a result, Byron is frequently unable to successfully use the IID. *Id.* When this occurs, Byron could be forced to either cancel or substantially delay trips. R. 11:2; App. 37.

-

² A more comprehensive explanation of how IIDs work can be found on Pages 5-7 of the Wisconsin Department of Transportation's FAQs about IIDs, found online at http://wisconsindot.gov/Documents/about-wisdot/who-we-are/dsp/iid-faq.pdf (last accessed October 27, 2015). The relevant pages are also included in the attached Appendix, pp. 43-45.

Because Byron is Marguerite's main source of transportation, Byron's difficulties using the IID due to his asthma could also lead Marguerite to miss or delay medical or treatment-related appointments. *Id.* Thus, in addition to causing Byron physical distress, emotional distress, and inconvenience, the IID also puts both Byron and Marguerite in serious danger if Byron is unable to transport Marguerite in the event of a medical emergency, or if he becomes stranded far from home in freezing weather. *Id.*

Argument

I. The circuit court abused its discretion when it ordered Marguerite Alpers to install an IID in "her husband's car" as a condition of probation.

A sentencing court has discretion to impose "reasonable and appropriate" conditions of probation on a "person convicted of a crime." Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a). Conditions of probation are reviewed under "the erroneous exercise of discretion standard to determine their validity and reasonableness measured by how well they serve their objectives: rehabilitation and protection of the state and community interest." *State v. Stewart*, 2006 WI App 67, ¶ 11, 291 Wis. 2d 480, 713 N.W.2d 165.

A court's discretion is exercised erroneously if its decision is not based on the facts in record. *State v. St. George*, 2002 WI 50, \P 37, 252 Wis.

2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777. In addition, "judges should not abuse their discretion by imposing probation conditions on convicted individuals that reflect only their own idiosyncrasies." *State v. Oakley*, 2001 WI 103, ¶ 13, 245 Wis. 2d 447, 629 N.W.2d 200, *opinion clarified on denial of reconsideration*, 2001 WI 123, ¶ 13, 248 Wis. 2d 654, 635 N.W.2d 760. Finally, a condition of probation may be struck down as an abuse of discretion even if it serves the purposes of probation, but if it is unduly restrictive because the same purposes are already "functionally accomplished by a more narrowly drawn" condition. *Stewart*, 2006 WI App 67, ¶¶ 20-21.

In the present case, the IID Order failed to connect the facts in the record to the goals of probation, but instead reflected the trial court's own idiosyncrasies. In addition, the goals it presumably sought to fulfill were already accomplished through other more narrowly tailored conditions. As a result, the IID Order was neither reasonable, nor appropriate, and was thus an abuse of the circuit court's discretion, and should be rescinded.

A. The IID Order was not based upon the facts in the record, but instead reflected the circuit court's own idiosyncrasies.

The circuit court appeared to fashion the IID Order based on concerns that Marguerite would otherwise drive under the influence again, and thus

reoffend.³ Accordingly, while the Order was presumably intended to both protect the community and rehabilitate Marguerite by preventing her from reoffending, it was not supported by the record.

At sentencing, the court provided no analysis or explanation based on the factual record of the case regarding why Marguerite might be a greater risk to reoffend during probation than other OWI defendants, so as to warrant the additional IID requirement. *See* R. 15. In fact, the record lacked any evidence suggesting that Marguerite had continued to drive or to drink, much less to excess, following the revocation of her license. *Id.* In addition, the record arguably suggested that Marguerite was at less risk of reoffending due to her recently diagnosed brain tumor and Parkinson's disease, coupled with her compliance with bail conditions and her performance in treatment. R.

_

R. 15:20-21; App. 21-22.

³ The court's apparent concern that absent the IID Order, Marguerite would reoffend, is reflected by the following quote, previously included in the "Statement of Facts" section:

Counsel, don't ever tell a policeman -- or a retired policeman that because you revoked somebody's license they can't drive.

All you need to do is drive out on the street in my old squad area at midnight, and half the people on the road have license privileges that are revoked; but they're still driving.

Okay. So that -- that all -- that argument does not wash. Now, if you cut somebody's hand off that they can't grab the steering wheel, then they can't drive.

If you put a breath interlock device on their car, it's -- you make it much, much harder for them to drive because they'll have to find somebody that's sober that can learn the pulse codes.

15:4, 17; App. 5, 18.

Not only did the circuit court lack a basis in the record for imposing the heightened IID Order on Marguerite, but the court also lacked a basis for ordering the IID to be installed on "her husband's car." Nothing in the record indicated in which vehicle or vehicles Marguerite committed her offenses. See R. 15. Additionally, the record was silent regarding which vehicle was considered "her husband's car," or whether Marguerite had authority to install an IID in whichever vehicle that might be. *Id.* Finally, nothing in the record suggested that Marguerite even had access to drive "her husband's car," so as to be able to reoffend. *Id.* Accordingly, nothing in the factual history of the case suggested that the IID Order would further protect the public or rehabilitate Marguerite.

Rather than base the IID Order on the case record, the circuit court based it on its own idiosyncrasies. A trial judge may not take judicial notice of his or her own experiences pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes Section 902.01, and then substitute those experiences as evidence. *State v. Sarnowski*, 2005 WI App 48, ¶¶ 13-16, 280 Wis. 2d 243, 694 N.W.2d 498.

When the court imposed the IID Order on Marguerite, it explicitly substituted its own personal experiences for the evidence, as shown by the

court's discussion of the number of people driving with revoked licenses in the court's old squad area in the City of Milwaukee at midnight. R. 15:20-21; App. 21-22. In stark contrast, both of Marguerite's arrests occurred during daylight in the suburban village of Shorewood. R. 15:9-12; App. 10-13. Nothing in the record suggests that Marguerite would ever be present in the court's old squad area at midnight. *See* R. 15. Because the circuit court crafted the IID Order based not on the record, but as a reflection of the court's own idiosyncrasies, the court abused its discretion and the Order should be rescinded.

B. The presumed purpose of the IID Order is already accomplished through other conditions of probation.

The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by fashioning the IID Order in an unduly restrictive manner, when the purpose of the Order was already achieved through other conditions of probation. In *State v. Stewart*, 2006 WI App 67, ¶¶ 10, 20-21, 291 Wis. 2d 480, 713 N.W.2d 165, the court imposed a condition of probation on the defendant which banned him from entering Richmond Township, where he was an established, longtime resident. The goal of the ban was to protect specific individuals who lived in Richmond who the defendant had abused and sexually harassed. *Id.*,

¶¶ 14-15. The Court of Appeals ruled that even though the ban on entering Richmond Township furthered the goals of probation, the same goals were already achieved through the condition of probation and supervision that the defendant have no contact with the victims. Id., ¶ 17. On that basis, the court struck down the geographical ban as an overbroad and unduly restrictive condition of probation. Id., ¶ 21.

Similar to *Stewart*, the presumed purpose of the IID Order in the present case was already accomplished through other more narrowly tailored conditions of probation. Pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes Section 343.301, Marguerite was already required to maintain an IID on any vehicle she owns or operates for a cumulative period of three and a half years following the reinstatement of her driver's license. R. 15:25, 15:27-29; App. 36, 38-30. Thus, the presumed goal of the IID Order, preventing Marguerite from reoffending by making it more difficult for her to operate a vehicle, was already accomplished through less restrictive conditions of supervision.

At Marguerite's sentencing, the circuit court cited no justification or reasoning for imposing the more restrictive and overbroad IID Order, which vaguely required the installation of an IID in Marguerite's "husband's car." R. 15:26; App. 27. The court gave no explanation for why the mandated

conditions of supervision imposing IIDs might be insufficient. *See* R. 15. In addition, the Court provided no explanation of why it believed Marguerite might attempt to drive while her license is revoked, and thus before she is required to maintain an IID on any vehicle she operates or which is titled and registered in her name. *Id.* Finally, as discussed above, nothing in the record established which vehicle was Marguerite's "husband's car," and the court had no basis to conclude that an IID was necessary for that car. *Id.* Thus, the court abused its discretion by imposing an unduly restrictive and overbroad condition of probation, the aims of which were already accomplished by more narrowly tailored conditions.

II. The circuit court violated Byron Alpers' constitutional due process rights because the IID Order primarily punishes him, yet the court had no jurisdiction over him, and he had no notice of or opportunity to respond to the Order.

The constitutionality of a condition of probation presents a question of law, reviewed with no deference given to lower courts. *Oakley*, 2001 WI 103, ¶ 8. In the present case, the IID Order was an arbitrary government action that primarily punishes Byron, despite the fact that the circuit court had no jurisdiction over him and he had no notice of the Order or opportunity to respond to it. As a result, the IID Order violates Byron's constitutional due

process rights and should be rescinded.

Byron was not a party to Marguerite's case, and therefore not subject to the trial court's jurisdiction. Yet he is the party chiefly aggrieved and punished by the Order. While semantically speaking, the court ordered Marguerite to install an IID on her "husband's car," practically, it ordered Byron to install an IID on his car. Marguerite was taken into custody immediately following her sentencing hearing, and per the court's order, was only released from the House of Corrections after they "physically check[ed] to see that the breath interlock device is on the car." R. 15:28, 15:31; App. 29, 32. Thus, Byron was effectively ordered to install the IID on his own car.

The IID order violated Byron's substantive and procedural due process rights under the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions. *See State v. Laxton,* 2002 WI 82, ¶ 10 n.8, 254 Wis.2d 185, 647 N.W.2d 784. Substantive due process protects individuals from "certain arbitrary, wrongful government actions. The test to determine if the state conduct complained of violates substantive due process is if the conduct 'shocks the conscience ... or interferes with rights implicit in the concept of ordered liberty." *State ex rel. Greer V. Wiedenhoeft,* 2014 WI 19, ¶ 57, 353 Wis. 2d 307, 845 N.W.2d 373, *reconsideration denied sub nom. Greer v.*

Wiedenhoeft, 2014 WI 50, ¶ 57, 354 Wis. 2d 866, 848 N.W.2d 861 (internal citations omitted). The trial court's order shocks the conscience by interfering with Byron's right under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Sections Six, Seven, and Eight of Article One of the Wisconsin Constitution, to not be subject to penalties in a court case where he is not a party.

The IID order also violated Byron's right to procedural due process. Even if a government action "survives substantive due process scrutiny, it must still be implemented in a fair manner." *Greer*, 2014 WI 19, ¶ 62. In this case, the circuit court had no jurisdiction over Byron, as he was not a party to Marguerite's cases. Further, he had no opportunity to challenge the IID Order at sentencing, for example, by explaining to the circuit court that he keeps his car keys locked in a safe to prevent Marguerite from driving his car, or that his asthma might make it difficult for him to use the IID. *See* R. 15. Finally, Byron has no clearly defined means of appealing the order.

In addition, the IID Order exceeded the court's authority. A court may impose reasonable and appropriate conditions of probation "if a person is convicted of a crime," Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a). Byron was neither convicted, nor charged, with a crime. He had no notice that his personal

freedoms were in jeopardy. Thus, he was not subject to the court's jurisdiction.

Conclusion

The circuit court abused its discretion when it imposed the IID Order as a condition of Marguerite Alpers' probation. The Order is an overbroad and unduly burdensome condition of probation based on the circuit court's own idiosyncrasies, and not on the factual record of the case. In addition, the Order chiefly punishes Byron Alpers, a non-party to the case, and is therefore a violation of Byron's due process rights. Accordingly, the IID Order should

be removed.