RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **11-19-2015**

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2015AP001784-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

MARGUERITE ALPERS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A POST-CONVICTION MOTION TO RESCIND AN ORDER FOR INSTALLATION OF AN IID DEVICE, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JOHN SIEFERT, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT ADMITTING ERROR

John T. Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Karen Loebel Deputy District Attorney State Bar No. 1009740 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER IN 14CT001754 THAT MS. ALPERS PLACE AN IID ON THE VEHICLE WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.

A circuit court has broad discretion to craft conditions of probation. Circuit courts are granted broad discretion in determining conditions of probation, *State v. Miller*, 283 Wis. 2d at 474, ¶11. A condition is reasonably related to the goal of rehabilitation if it helps the convicted individual conform his or her conduct to the law. *State v. Oakley*, 2001 WI 103, ¶ 21, 245 Wis. 2d 447, 629 N.W.2d 200.

It is the State's position that, with proper findings, the trial court lawfully could have ordered Ms. Alpers to install an IID in a vehicle she owns, or which she owns jointly with another. The record here shows that within a very short time span, Ms. Alpers twice drove under the influence of an intoxicant. (R15:9-13) She had a very high BAC on both occasions. Once, her physical impairment was so great that a defense attorney followed her and summoned police; the other time, she was staggering as she walked from a liquor store, got into her car and drove away. (Id.) That level of impairment, the close proximity in time of the two offenses, her high BAC in both, and the fact that the earlier arrest did not curb her drinking and driving, reasonably would warrant a judge in the opinion that Ms. Alpers's problem with drinking—and drinking and driving—was greater than that of other defendants. It would similarly warrant a belief that Ms. Alpers posed a greater risk to reoffend and a greater risk to the community.

Judge Siefert expressed concern, in broad terms, that Ms. Alpers would reoffend, notwithstanding that she would not have a driver's license. (R15:26) He opined that the likely penalties for Operating after Revocation of her license were insufficient to prevent repeated drunk driving (R15:20-23), and that the best way to prevent Ms. Alpers from driving drunk again was to have an IID installed before it was otherwise required. (R15:22) He expressed, again in broad terms, that because Ms. Alpers would remain physically capable of driving, she would remain at risk of driving drunk again. (R15:22, 26). The court's order for installation of an IID as a condition of probation was thus designed to protect the community—which is a valid interest at sentencing—and to keep Ms. Alpers from reoffending—which is certainly the goal of rehabilitation.

The problem with Judge Siefert's order, though, is two-fold.

First, nothing in the sentencing transcript establishes whose car the IID was to be installed in. Judge Siefert-perhaps because Ms. Alpers said that she no longer drives and her husband drives her-referred to "her husband's car." (R15: 26) But nothing in the sentencing record supports the conclusion that the car belonged to Ms. Alpers's husband: the car in which he drives her could be a family member's car, a neighbor's car, or a rental vehicle. Even were the court to be correct in the assumption that Ms. Alpers's husband owned the car, nothing in the record establishes that Ms. Alpers had an ownership interest in the vehicle.² The record therefore was not sufficient to allow Judge Siefert to conclude that Ms. Alpers had the authority to install an IID in the car. Absent a finding that Ms. Alpers had the actual authority to install the IID, the court's authority was limited to ordering her-as a condition of probation-not to reside with someone who had a vehicle without an IID.

Second, because the facts about the car are sparse, Judge Siefert could not conclude the order was necessary. The record does not demonstrate what car(s) Ms. Alpers was in when she committed her offenses; certainly, the connection between rehabilitation, community protection and the installation of an interlock device would be stronger if the car which was the subject of the order had been the one used in the criminal activity. Neither does the record support the court's

² All property of spouses is marital property, except that which is classified otherwise by the marital property statutes, and all property of spouses is presumed to be marital property. *See*, Wis. Stat. § 766.31(1) and (2). Generally, each spouse has an undivided one-half interest in each item of marital property. *See*, Wis. Stats. § 766.31(3). However, certain exceptions exist to the notion that property acquired after marriage is marital property. *See*, Wis. Stat. § 766.31(7). Because there is nothing on the record to demonstrate when or how the car was acquired

assumption that Ms. Alpers actually had access to "her husband's car:" there is no information as to where that car was generally kept, where the keys were kept, or how many sets of keys there were.

Absent information that Ms. Alpers had the authority to install the device and that the order was necessary, the State believes the order that Ms. Alpers install an IID in "her husband's car" was improper.

II. THE ISSUE OF WHETHER BYRON ALPERS'S RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT.

Ms. Alpers's second contention on appeal is that the court's order that Ms. Alpers place an IID device on her husband's car violates his due process rights . In support of the argument, Ms. Alpers complains that (1) her husband is the person "chiefly aggrieved and punished by the Order (sic);" and the order "practically ordered Byron to install an IID on his car." (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, p. 19)

It is the State's position that this issue is not properly before this court. Ms. Alpers did not raise this issue at sentencing. (See, R15, generally) Neither did she raise it in her post-conviction motion to remove the IID order, which was premised solely on issues relating to Byron Alpers's health conditions: specifically, that the order might "cause him to terminate or significantly delay trips in locations or in weather that could be life-threatening;" and could "be expected to cause Marguerite to be late for or miss medical or treatmentappointments;" and might "also cause her to violate the electronic monitoring order." (R11:2) The issue therefore has not been preserved in this matter.

Neither is it correct to say that Byron Alpers is primarily aggrieved and punished by the trial court's order. Arguably, a person always suffers some consequences when his or her spouse is sentenced in a criminal case: joint property may be forfeited; communal assets may be required to pay fines, costs, or restitution; family income may be implicated if the defendant is ordered not to engage in a profession or is incarcerated. That a person feels effects of his or her spouse's criminal conduct does not create an actionable claim. The IID order here served the goals of rehabilitation of Ms. Alpers and the protection of the community, valid state interests. Had the necessary factual underpinnings been of record, the order would have been lawful and appropriate, notwithstanding its impact on Byron Alpers.

CONCLUSION

The State believes that the trial court erred in ordering Ms. Alpers to install an IID device on "her husband's car," because the record does contain facts necessary to sustain that order. The State, on that basis, therefore joins Ms. Alpers in asking that the IID order be reversed.